2006

Lorin Blauer v. Department of Workforce of Services, utah Career Service Reivew Board : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Lorin Blauer seeks review of a decision by the Utah Career Service Review Board entered December 6, 2006 (Addendum at Attachment 1).

JURISDICTION

By this Petition, Petitioner seeks review of an order issued by the Utah Career Service Review Board (“CSRB”), an administrative body created under Utah Code Ann. § 67-19a-201. CSRB’s ruling (Attachment 1) was entered despite an order issued by the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County, State of Utah (Addendum at Attachment 2), directing that CSRB consider Petitioner’s claims as raised therein; notwithstanding that order; CSRB dismissed Petitioner’s remanded claims on jurisdictional grounds. Notwithstanding the nature of the dismissal, however, CSRB designated the ruling as the result of a “formal adjudicative proceeding,” appealable only to this Court under Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16. Jurisdiction therefore obtains pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2(a)-3(2)(a).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. Whether CSRB’s December 6, 2006 ruling constituted a “formal adjudicative proceeding” under Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-1, *et seq.*, depriving Petitioner of *de novo* review thereof by the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County, State of Utah under Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-15.

2. Whether, despite prior orders of the Third District Court in related litigation, CSRB erroneously declined subject matter jurisdiction over Petitioner's claims that

a. The DWS violated Utah Administrative Code R. 477-10-1, *et seq.*, by failing to define job performance parameters;

b. The DWS violated personnel rules by assigning job tasks to Petitioner falling outside of his job description, in violation of Utah Administrative Code R. 477-3-2 and 3;

c. The DWS engaged in unlawful harassment of, and retaliation against, Petitioner in connection with his request for accommodation of disabilities, in violation of Utah Administrative Code R. 477-15-2 and 3;

d. The DWS representatives violated Utah Administrative Code R. 477-2-5 by failing to maintain proper personnel records concerning Petitioner's performance, and by refusing access to alleged documentation supposedly reflecting negatively on his job performance, and claimed to be in his personnel file;

e. The DWS violated Utah Administrative Code R. 477-7-7 by denying Petitioner administrative leave; and

f. The critical letters from DWS representatives, remaining in Petitioner's personnel file, constituted "written reprimands," grievable to CSRB pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 67-19a-302(1).

CSRB's decision declines jurisdiction over the Remanded Claims, and is reviewable for correctness – by this Court under Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(4)(d), or by the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County, State of Utah under Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-15. *Lopez v. Career Service Review Board*, 834 P. 2d 568 (Utah App. 1992).

**DETERMINATIVE CASE LAW AND
STATUTORY PROVISIONS**

Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-8, 10, 14-16

Utah Code Ann.. § 67-19a-202, 302, 402 (2003)

Utah Admin. R. 477-1(31), (33), (35), (40), (56), (67), (68), (70), (71), (77), (78), (79),
(82), (85), (86), (92), and (96)

Utah Admin. R. 477-1(3), (31), (33), (34), (36), (40), (58), (69), Utah Code Ann.
§ 67-19a-403 (2003)

Utah Admin. R. 477-2-6-3

Utah Admin. R. 477-2-6-7(9) and (12)

Utah Admin. R. 477-3-3-1, 2, and 3

Utah Admin. R. 477-7-4(6)

Utah Admin. R. 477-7-5(1) and (2)

Utah Admin. R. 477-7-6(3) and (5)

Utah Admin. R. 477-7-7(1)

Utah Admin. R. 477-10-1-1 and 2

Utah Admin. R. 477-11-1

Utah Admin. R. 477-15-2 and 3

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This petition relates to an action still pending before the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, styled: *Lorin Blauer, Plaintiff, v. Utah Dept. of Workforce Services, et al., Defendants*, Civil No. 040900221 (hereafter the “2004 Action”). In the 2004 Action, Petitioner (a veteran attorney and employee of the State of Utah) challenged, *inter alia*, violations of personnel rules incumbent on his employer, Respondent Utah Department of Workforce Services (“DWS”). In administrative proceedings before Respondent Utah Career Service Review Board (“CSRB”), Petitioner’s claims in this regard had been dismissed without hearing for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. DWS moved to dismiss the 2004 Action on the same basis, but the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County disagreed, and remanded Petitioner’s claims to CSRB for adjudication.

On December 6, 2006, though, CSRB again declined jurisdiction of Petitioner’s claims of workplace rules violation, again without evidentiary hearing. Unlike the first jurisdictional dismissal, though, CSRB labeled its December 6, 2006 ruling the product of a “formal adjudicative proceeding”.

Petitioner responded not only with this petition, but with a supplemental filing before the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County styled: *Lorin Blauer,*

plaintiff, v. Utah Department of Workforce Services and the Career Service Review Board of Utah, defendants (Civil No. 070900108) (“2007 Action”)¹. By order dated April 9, 2007, however, Judge Joseph C. Fratto of the Third District Court dismissed the 2007 Action, concluding that CSRB’s December 6, 2006 Order had been the result of a “formal adjudicative proceeding”.

The Third District Court has yet to take up the question whether, in dismissing the claims remanded to it by Judge Lewis’ order in the 2004 Action, CSRB disregarded that order.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

CSRB’s order dismissed remanded claims from the 2004 Action without hearing, stating that as a matter of law, Petitioner had asserted no cognizable claim. As such, this Court should assume the truth of all factual allegations before CSRB – *Russell Packard Development, Inc. v. Carson*, 2005 Utah 14, 108 P.3d 741; *Peterson v. Delta Airlines, Inc.*, 2002 Ut. App. 56, 42 P.3d 1253; *Snowflower Homeowner’s Association v. Snowflower, Limited*, 2001 Ut. App. 207, 31 P.3d 576. The Court must accept as true the following allegations, taken from Petitioner’s submittals before CSRB:

1. Grievant began employment with the Department of Employment Security (now DWS) in December of 1980 as a temporary, part time, employee. Effective

¹Petitioner filed the 2007 Action, rather than simply seeking relief in the 2004 Action, in order to meet the 30-day filing deadline imposed on challenges to final orders of administrative agencies under Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-14(3)(a).

September 14, 1981 he achieved full time merit status as a Career Service Employee with the working title of Legal Counsel. He achieved such status specifically because of the quality of his work and because he was willing to “go the extra mile”. As Legal Counsel, Grievant’s tasks have included defending Board decisions in the Utah Court of Appeals and the Utah Supreme Court. In addition to hundreds of cases that have resulted in dismissals of appeals or unpublished decisions, Grievant has represented the Board in 20 cases that resulted in published decisions by the Court of Appeals and Supreme Court, with a 75% win rate. Grievant has the highest win rate of the current DWS Legal Counsel and more than twice the number of published decisions as other current Legal Counsel. Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149.

2. When Grievant first began work for the Department, those who held unemployment insurance hearings had the statutory title of Appeal Referee. In a bid to gain a higher level of respect from the parties to hearings, the Appeal Referees thereafter requested a change of title to Administrative Law Judge, which was later enacted. Letter R. 13-16; Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149.

3. From June 2, 1986 to December 1, 1986, by special written agreement between the Department and Grievant, Grievant served a temporary assignment, as an Appeal Referee, now titled Administrative Law Judge-DWS, in order to gain better understanding and insight into the role of Appeal Referee thus to be better able to fulfill his role as counsel to the Board of Review (now Workforce Appeals Board - hereinafter

“Board”). His return to his regular duties was guaranteed to take place at a specific time and at his regular pay plus any appropriate increases attached to his original job and pay range. Letter R. 13-16; Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149, at Attachment 2.

4. Historically, Grievant’s job description detailed his overall responsibilities and examples of probable duties. His position description questionnaire (PDQ) detailed his specific legal duties to DWS along with the percentage of his work time that was to be devoted to each duty. As his duties changed, so did his PDQ. For example, Grievant’s 1986 PDQ listed his duties with the Board to be 40% of his legal duties. In 1989 his PDQ shows his Board work to be 35% of his legal duties. His 1990 PDQ lists his Board related duties as 50% of his legal duties. His last PDQ, signed by Grievant and his then supervisor, Virginia Smith, on April 2 & 3, 1998 (Attachment 3), also lists his duties with the Board as 50% of his legal duties. Other than for the specific period of his temporary assignment as an Appeal Referee, none of Grievant’s PDQ’s included serving as, or performing the duties of, an Administrative Law Judge-DWS as part of his duties. Letter R. 13-16; Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149.

5. Historically, Grievant shared the responsibility of being counsel to the Board with one or two other attorneys. The case load for was fairly consistent for many years.

6. Beginning in 1998, though, there was a significant increase in caseload -- from 342 in 1998 to 445 in 1999; to 485 in 2000; to 585 in 2001; to 819 in 2002. Petition

for Reconsideration, R. 27-149, at Attachment 10. There were 971 Board cases during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2003. Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149, at Attachment 11 - page 3.

7. In Grievant's 2002 Performance Appraisal (Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149, at Attachment 12) his current immediate supervisor, Ms. Downing, gave Grievant a score of 60 points; just one (1) point less than the points needed for a "highly successful" rating. Grievant disagreed with that appraisal. He made two pages of typewritten comments wherein he noted specific errors in Ms. Downing's appraisal. He noted the additional duties to which he had been assigned since 1998; but without a change in his PDQ or a reduction of the other duties he was already performing. He also noted the health problems that he had been experiencing. Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149, at Attachment 13.

8. Grievant's physicians have also explained Grievant's health issues and need for accommodation to DWS in several letters. Letter R. 5-12; Letter R. 13-16; Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149, at Attachments 14-19.

9. Grievant's objections were ignored; however, Grievant elected not to file a grievance in the interest of maintaining good relations with his supervisor. Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149.

10. At some point during the ramping up of responsibilities incident to Grievant's job responsibilities as set out above, Ms. Downing, Director of Adjudications,

determined to further alter Grievant's traditional duties as Legal\Enforcement Counsel III and reassign him to a combination of Legal Counsel and Administrative Law Judge-DWS duties. Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149.

11. In her performance appraisal signed June 26, 2003, Ms. Downing attempted to establish cause for an adverse employment action in order to accomplish her plan. She tried to establish this "cause" through an "unsuccessful" performance rating. Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149, at Attachment 20.

12. In her 2003 Performance Appraisal, Ms. Downing dropped Grievant's 2002 score 21 points from 60 to 39 points, from just one point below "highly successful" down to just two (2) points less than the points needed for a "successful" rating; she offered no objective, measurable evidence to support that precipitous drop, though. Instead, she claimed reliance on unsubstantiated information and allegations kept from Grievant. Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149.

13. On July 16, 2003 Grievant filed a five page response/grievance, wherein he noted numerous errors Ms. Downing made in her performance appraisal. Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149, at Attachment 11.

14. In an e-mail dated July 25, 2003, Ms. Downing acknowledged some of the errors she had made in her performance evaluation - particularly in regards to ratings on factors and criteria supportable by objective evidence - but refused to give Grievant the two additional points needed for a "successful" performance evaluation. Her reason was

her undocumented allegation that he was “not carrying his fair share of the workload.”

Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149, at Attachment 21.

15. Ms. Downing did not deny, or even respond to, most of the information Grievant provided in his response, including his information in the last paragraph of page two of his response that his case load for the Board had increased from 222 to 443 cases during that year. Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149, at Attachment 21.

16. Grievant had also noted that his Board work was 50% of his workload on his most recent PDQ (April 2, 1998) at which time his Board case load was 171 cases and now it was over 2½ that number. Ms. Downing refused to supply any evidence that Grievant was not carrying his fair share of the work load. Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149, at Attachments 11 and 21.

17. On July 28, 2003 Grievant appealed Ms. Downing’s unsuccessful performance rating to Executive Director Ms. Ireland. The primary basis for his appeal was that the rating was invalid because it was not based on a proper job or position description, proper and adequate performance plan(s), adequate, accurate, objective, or otherwise appropriate performance standards and criteria, or a proper or accurate interpretation of relevant facts and history. Grievant also argued that just correcting the errors Ms. Downing acknowledged in her July 25, 2003 response to his grievance should have been sufficient to give him the additional two points he needed to move from an unsuccessful to a successful rating. Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149.

18. In August 20, 2003, Grievant and his representative met with Ms. Downing and Joanne Campbell to discuss his performance management. Letter R. 5-12; Letter R. 13-16; Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149.

19. Grievant pointed out that there was no performance plan in place upon which Ms. Downing could base an objective evaluation. He referred to the PDQ from which the performance plan should be derived and asked what criteria she used to evaluate Grievant's performance. Letter R. 5-12; Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149.

20. Except for identifying alleged negative comments of unidentified employees never shared with Grievant, Ms. Downing would not reveal any specific elements, criteria, or evidence of failure. She simply reiterated that Grievant's work was not timely nor was he carrying his fair share of the load. Letter R. 13-16; Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149.

21. Ms. Downing again implied that Grievant did not do "quality work," and made other vague observations as to others not wanting to work with him; however, when challenged, she did not produce any objective evidence to back up her statements. Letter R. 5-12; Letter R. 13-16; Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149.

22. In response to the question what a "fair share of the workload" was, Ms. Downing said it was "difficult to quantify," and then actually asked Grievant what he thought others were doing. Grievant told her that he was not privy to that information. Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149.

23. Immediately after the meeting, Ms. Downing (through Joanne Campbell) suggested that Grievant should be an Administrative Law Judge-DWS because that position was easier to quantify and qualify but that they would leave his salary range and title unchanged. Grievant responded that this was not an appropriate solution. Letter R. 5-12; Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149.

24. In the past, Ms. Downing had frequently mentioned to Grievant that she did not fully understand Grievant's job, so Grievant offered to analyze the position and come up with some recommendations for not only some alternative combinations of duties, but also a performance plan with specific elements and criteria for rating the successful performance of those elements. Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149.

25. Ms. Downing voiced no objection to this plan; accordingly, Grievant offered in writing suggestions for two possible combinations of assignments that would accommodate his disabilities and meet the needs of the Department. Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149.

26. Grievant offered to further negotiate until he and they could come up with a solution that would fulfill the needs and interests of all concerned. Ms. Downing, though, rejected the offer and closed negotiations. Letter R. 5-12; Letter R. 13-16; Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149, at Attachments 22 and 23.

27. In a letter dated September 5, 2003, Ms. Ireland, granted Grievant's appeal and awarded him a successful performance rating, thereby invalidating the cause for

Ms. Downing's intended adverse action. Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149, at Attachment 24.

28. Prior to the overturn of the unsuccessful performance rating, and during a Performance appraisal interview, Grievant again gave Ms. Downing notice of his health problems that should be accommodated. She refused to look at his information and said it was too late to be considered in his performance appraisal. Letter R. 5-12; Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149.

29. Ms. Downing did instruct Grievant that he had to ask for a determination of his ADA qualification; then she requested of Chuck Butler, DWS ADA Coordinator, a review of Grievant's need, and qualification, for ADA accommodation. Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149.

30. Mr. Butler made disbelieving and sarcastic remarks relative to Grievant's disabilities - particularly his sciatic nerve disorder. He questioned the authenticity of the Doctor's recommendations. He called Grievant's Doctor and made offensive remarks implying that the Doctor's recommendations were not genuine or valid. He declared that Grievant was not qualified for accommodation under ADA. Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149.

31. Nevertheless, Mr. Butler finally recommended that Ms. Downing consider his disabilities in making assignments. Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149.

32. Ms. Downing had been told by Grievant that he could perform his duties as Legal\Enforcement Counsel III to the Workforce Appeals Board with minimal, inexpensive accommodation to his physical health issues, but could not do the duties of Administrative Law Judge-DWS to the extent assigned without damage to his health - not even with the more extensive and expensive physical accommodations discussed. Letter R. 5-12; Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149.

33. During the years of his employment, Grievant carefully managed his sick leave account accruing 857 hours of Sick leave as of September 26, 2003, with the intent of buying paid up health insurance upon retirement. Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149.

34. Even though Ms. Downing could not impose the previously planned action as a “corrective action,” and even though she was fully informed of the physical impossibility of Grievant performing the functions of an Administrative Law Judge-DWS, she nevertheless carried out her “corrective action” demotion by referring to it as a “change of assignment”. In a letter dated September 9, she removed from Grievant all of his historical duties as Legal\Enforcement Counsel III and assigned him full time and exclusively to the lesser duties of Administrative Law Judge- DWS, a position distinctly different from his current position of Legal\Enforcement Counsel III. Letter R. 5-12; Letter R. 13-16; Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149, at Attachment 25.

35. Given the information then at her disposal, Ms. Downing acted with full knowledge that Grievant could not physically perform the duties as assigned without injury. Letter R. 5-12; Letter R. 13-16; Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149.

36. This was not a temporary assignment. Ms. Downing clearly stated that Grievant would no longer perform his duties as Legal\Enforcement Counsel III, including being Legal Counsel to the Workforce Appeals Board, and would henceforth only perform the duties of Administrative Law Judge-DWS. Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149, at Attachment 25, page 1, paragraph 1.

37. Ms. Downing listed numerous alleged events and representations as giving specific “cause” for her action. None of them, though, has been documented in any way in Grievant’s personnel file, nor have they been presented to Grievant for rebuttal; neither has he been granted a meaningful hearing on any of them. Petition for Reconsideration, R. 27-149.

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