2006

Lorin Blauer v. Utah Department of Workforce of Services, Uta Career Service Review Board : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

This issue is unique to this appeal.

2. CSRB’s dismissal for lack of jurisdiction

The legislature granted CSRB limited authority to hear certain employment grievances that have been raised before the employing agency and then timely appealed to CSRB. After Blauer lost his demotion grievance before CSRB, he filed a request for reconsideration, raising six new issues that had not been timely appealed through the statutory grievance process. Did CSRB correctly determine that it lacked jurisdiction to hear the merits of those new issues?

A. Standard of Review

Since this issue raises a question of general law, this Court reviews the “CSRB’s conclusion for correctness, granting no deference to that agency’s decision.” *Holland v. CSRB*, 856 P.2d 678, 682 (Utah App. 1993).

B. Preservation of the Issue

This issue was raised by the Department in its motion to dismiss. R. 465-632. The issue was considered by CSRB in its December 6, 2006 Decision and Final Agency Action. R. 659-71.

Determinative Constitutional Provisions, Statutes and Rules

The following provisions are attached in the Addendum:

Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-4(1) (West 2004)
Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-4(2) (West 2004)
Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-4(3) (West 2004)
Utah Code Ann. § 67-19a-202 (West 2004)
Utah Code Ann. § 67-19a-401 (West 2004)
Utah Code Ann. § 67-19a-402 (West 2004)
Utah Admin. Code R. 137-1-17

Statement of the Case

1. Nature of the Case

This is a petition for judicial review of final agency action of the CSRB. CSRB concluded that it lacked jurisdiction over new issues in Blauer's employment grievance that were raised for the first time in a request for reconsideration.

2. Course of the Proceedings Below

Blauer, an attorney for the Department of Workforce Services (Department), filed a grievance in July 2003 over an unsuccessful performance evaluation. R. 528-33. He also complained of the Department's failure to define job performance standards and that he did not have a current performance plan in place. R. 532; 642-43. That grievance was appealed to the Department's director, who ruled in Blauer's favor and changed the performance evaluation to "successful." R. 548-49. Blauer did not appeal that grievance to the CSRB. R. 636.

In September 2003, the Department of Workforce Services reapportioned Blauer's job duties and assigned him to conduct administrative hearings full time. R. 551-53. Blauer grieved his new assignment to the Career Service Review Board (CSRB), claiming the assignment was a

demotion. R. 554-55. The Department denied his grievance, concluding that no demotion had occurred. R. 559-61. After conducting an administrative review of the file, CSRB concluded that it lacked jurisdiction over the grievance because no demotion had occurred. R. 20-26.

Blauer then filed a request for reconsideration, asking CSRB to review six new issues not previously raised in the CSRB proceeding. R. 27-149. Five of those claims alleged that the Department violated personnel rules.¹

R. 57-62. The other claim requested that CSRB review some purported written reprimands in Blauer's file. R. 62. Specifically, Blauer alleged that:

- a. the Department failed to define Blauer's job performance parameters (R. 57-58);
- b. the Department assigned job tasks to Blauer outside his job description (R. 29-30);
- c. Department representatives harassed and retaliated against Blauer for his request for accommodation for disabilities (R. 59-60);

¹Blauer's request for reconsideration also included claims of constructive suspension and constructive termination, R. 61-62, but Blauer makes no mention of those claims in his opening brief and has therefore waived appellate review of that issue. *See Brown v. Glover*, 2000 UT 89, ¶ 23, 16 P.3d 540 (stating that failure to raise issue in opening brief generally constitutes waiver). Moreover, the district court did not list those claims in its order of remand, R. 583, and Blauer did not discuss the claims in his response to the Department's motion to dismiss. R. 633-46.

d. the Department failed to properly maintain Blauer's personnel records and refused him access to documentation in his personnel file (R. 60-61);

e. the Department improperly denied Blauer administrative leave (R. 61); and

f. the Department placed negative letters in Blauer's personnel file, thereby effectively issuing written reprimands against him. R. 62.

CSRB denied the motion for reconsideration, declining to consider the new claims because it deemed those claims to be ancillary to the demotion grievance. R. 276-82.

Blauer filed a petition for review in the district court, and the district court ultimately agreed with CSRB that no demotion occurred.² R. 582-83. The court, however, remanded the new claims of alleged violations of personnel rules to CSRB for consideration. R. 583. The remand order did not

²And this Court, in turn, agreed with the district court, holding that, because Blauer's assignment to conduct hearings full time was not a demotion, "CSRB did not err in declining jurisdiction over Blauer's grievance." *Blauer v. Dep't of Workforce Servs.*, 2005 UT App 488, ¶ 36, 128 P.3d 1204. While that appeal was pending, Blauer's employment was terminated On November 3, 2004, based on his inability to return to work after taking one year of medical leave. That termination is the subject another appeal pending before this Court, *Blauer v. Department of Workforce Services*, Utah Court of Appeals, No. 20060702. That appeal has been briefed and submitted for decision.

specify whether a formal or informal adjudication was required and did not direct CSRB to determine that it had jurisdiction:

Accordingly, the Plaintiff's First Claim for Relief is dismissed with prejudice, with the exception that the allegations in Paragraph 34 subsections (c) through (j) of the complaint which . . . are not based upon unlawful demotion, and which were also set forth by the Plaintiff in his Motion for Reconsideration (previously filed with the CSRB), are *remanded to the CSRB for consideration*.

R. 583 (emphasis added).

On remand to CSRB, the Department moved to dismiss the remanded issues for lack of jurisdiction. R. 465-632. CSRB conducted a jurisdictional hearing, where the parties presented memoranda and oral argument to a hearing officer. R. 652-58; 659. The Department attached documentary evidence to its memorandum. R. 483-632. Blauer referred to that evidence in his response but did not submit documentary evidence of his own, although nothing in the record indicates he was precluded from doing so. R. 645. CSRB concluded, in a decision issued December 6, 2006, that it lacked jurisdiction to hear the six remanded issues. R. 659-71.

To overturn CSRB's December 6, 2006 decision, Blauer then commenced two separate legal actions. First, on December 29, 2006, Blauer filed a petition for review with this Court, initiating the present action. Then, on January 3, 2007, Blauer filed a new district court action seeking judicial

review, in the form of a trial de novo, of the CSRB's decision. The complaint also contained a second claim for a declaratory judgment against CSRB and the Department. *See* Docket, *Blauer v. Utah Dep't of Workforce Servs.*, Third Judicial District Court, Case No. 070900108.³

On April 9, 2007, the district court dismissed the new district court action in its entirety for lack of jurisdiction. The district court's order stated that: a "CSRB jurisdictional hearing is a formal adjudication"; "Utah district courts are not granted jurisdiction over such appeals"; and the district court did "not have jurisdiction to review the CSRB decision [of December 6, 2006]." *See* Addendum A (Order of April 9, 2007, *Blauer v. Dep't of Workforce Servs.*, Third Judicial District Court, No. 070900108).

Blauer then filed a motion with this Court, seeking to have this appeal transferred to the district court for a trial de novo, arguing that the CSRB decision was an informal adjudication. This Court denied the motion outright on May 7, 2007. *See* Addendum B.

³This new 2007 action should not be confused with another district court action Blauer brought against the Department, *Blauer v. Department of Workforce Services*, Third Judicial District Court, Case No. 040927275, that was consolidated with the first district court petition for judicial review, *Blauer v. Department of Workforce Services*, Third Judicial District Court, Case No. 040900221.

3. Disposition Below

By its decision dated December 6, 2006, CSRB concluded that it lacked jurisdiction to hear the remanded claims. R. 659-71.

Statement of Facts

In his opening brief, Blauer includes a lengthy statement of facts relating the underlying allegations supporting the six new claims he raised in his request for CSRB reconsideration. But those facts are unnecessary to this Court's resolution of this appeal. CSRB did not address the merits of the new claims because it concluded that the undisputed procedural history of the case showed that Blauer had not properly preserved the claims for CSRB review. Accordingly, this brief does not include a counter-recitation of the underlying facts.

Summary of the Argument

Because CSRB's decision was designated by clear administrative rule as a formal adjudication, jurisdiction over this appeal is properly before this Court. Further, Blauer should be estopped from arguing that the CSRB decision was an informal adjudication because the third district court ruled

against Blauer on this identical argument, and Blauer has acquiesced in the ruling by not appealing it. In any event, transfer of this case to the district court for a trial de novo is manifestly inappropriate because CSRB's jurisdictional conclusion was based on undisputed procedural facts.

CSRB correctly dismissed the six remanded claims because Blauer had not timely appealed those claims through the statutory grievance process. One claim had been grieved to the Department director, but was not timely appealed to CSRB. Another claim was subsumed by Blauer's demotion grievance and had never been pursued as a grievance in its own right. The remaining claims were never grieved within the Department but were raised for the first time in a request for CSRB reconsideration. Because Blauer did not preserve his claims as required by statute, CSRB correctly determined that it lacked jurisdiction to hear the claims.

Accordingly, the Department asks this Court to affirm CSRB's decision.

Argument

1. CSRB's decision was a formal adjudicative proceeding and jurisdiction is properly here.

In its May 7, 2007 order this Court declined to transfer this case to the district court for a trial de novo. *See* Order of May 7, 2007, included as

Addendum B. In that order, this Court rejected Blauer’s argument that this Court lacks jurisdiction over CSRB’s adjudication. Further, this Court denied the motion outright, without reserving the issue for plenary consideration. Yet Blauer repeats arguments now in his opening brief, again asking this Court to transfer this case to the district court. To the extent that Blauer’s argument is a repeat motion for transfer, it should be rejected again.

Moreover, under principles of issue preclusion, Blauer should be estopped from continuing to argue that he is entitled to a trial de novo in district court. In a separate proceeding – commenced by Blauer for judicial review of the same CSRB decision Blauer seeks to have reviewed here – the third district court conclusively decided that it lacked jurisdiction to review CSRB’s decision. *See* Addendum A (Order of April 9, 2007, *Blauer v. Utah Dep’t of Workforce Servs.*, Third Judicial District Court, Case No. 070900108). The district court concluded that: (1) a “CSRB jurisdictional hearing is a formal adjudication”; (2) “Utah district courts are not granted jurisdiction over such appeals”; and (3) the district court did “not have jurisdiction to review the CSRB decision [of December 6, 2006].” *Id.* Blauer has acquiesced to this final determination by not appealing it. *See* Docket, *Blauer v. Utah Dep’t of Workforce Servs.*, Third Judicial District Court, Case No. 070900108 (showing that no notice of appeal was filed from the order of dismissal).

Issue preclusion⁴ prevents parties “from relitigating issues which were once adjudicated on the merits and have resulted in a final judgment.”

Brigham Young Univ. v. Tremco Consultants, Inc., 2005 UT 19, ¶ 27, 110 P.3d

678. Issue preclusion has four elements:

[1] [t]he party against whom claim preclusion is asserted must have been a party to or in privity with a party to the prior adjudication; [2] the issue decided in the prior adjudication must be identical to the one presented in the instant action; [3] the issue in the first action must have been completely, fully, and fairly litigated; and [4] the first suit must have resulted in a final judgment on the merits.

Id. (quoting *Murdock v. Springville Mun. Corp.*, 1999 UT 39, ¶ 15, 982 P.2d

65 (bracketed material in original)).

Although the district court’s April 6th decision was a dismissal on jurisdictional grounds, and therefore cannot be used as a dismissal on the merits of the underlying dispute, it nevertheless addressed the identical jurisdictional argument made by Blauer here, and should therefore have preclusive effect, at least over that jurisdictional issue. Although the Department could not find Utah authority on this point, other jurisdictions have concluded that a dismissal for lack of jurisdiction does preclude

⁴The Department did not make this claim preclusion argument in its April 26, 2007 response to Blauer’s motion to transfer appeal because that response was filed before Blauer’s time to appeal the April 9, 2007 decision expired.

relitigation “of the issues determined in ruling on the jurisdictional question.” *Matosantos Commercial Corp. v. Applebee’s Int’l, Inc.*, 245 F.3d 1203, 1211 (10th Cir. 2001) (quoting 18 Charles Alan Wright *et al.*, Federal Practice and Procedure § 4436 (1981)). *See also Okoro v. Bohman*, 164 F.3d 1059, 1063 (7th Cir. 1999) (“[A] jurisdictional dismissal precludes only the relitigation of the ground of that dismissal, and thus has collateral estoppel (issue preclusion) effect rather than the broader res judicata effect.”) (citations omitted); *GAF Corp. v. United States*, 818 F.2d 901, 912 (D.C. Cir. 1987) (stating that judgment dismissing action for lack of jurisdiction will “have preclusive effect as to matters actually adjudicated” and will “preclude relitigation of the precise issue of jurisdiction that led to the initial dismissal”). Because this Court and the district court have already decided the very issue Blauer now renews, the Department respectfully asks this Court to reject the argument again.

In any event, because CSRB’s December 6, 2006 decision was designated by clear administrative rule as a formal adjudication, jurisdiction exclusively lies with this Court. This Court has appellate jurisdiction over “the final orders and decrees resulting from *formal* adjudicative proceedings of state agencies.” Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(a) (West 2004) (emphasis added); *see also* Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(1) (West 2004). *Cf.* Utah Code

Ann. § 63-46b-15(1)(a) (West 2004) (stating that the district court has “jurisdiction to review by trial de novo all final agency actions resulting from *informal* adjudicative proceedings”).

Pursuant to the Utah Administrative Procedures Act (UAPA),⁵ CSRB has designated by administrative rule⁶ that a “jurisdictional hearing is a formal adjudication” and an “administrative review of the file is an informal adjudication.” Utah Admin. Code R. 137-1-17. To determine whether CSRB has jurisdiction over an employment grievance, its administrator has discretion to *either* “hold a jurisdictional hearing, where the parties may present oral arguments, written arguments, or both” *or* “conduct an administrative review of the file.” Utah Code Ann. § 67-19a-403(2)(b) (stating that the administrator “may” hold one or the other).⁷ Because CSRB can

⁵UAPA consists of Utah Code Ann. §§ 63-46b-0.5 through -23 (West 2004), inclusive.

⁶CSRB “may, by rule, designate categories of adjudicative proceedings to be conducted informally,” providing certain conditions are met. Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-4(1) (West 2004). But “all agency adjudicative proceedings not specifically designated as informal proceedings by the agency’s rules shall be conducted formally in accordance with the requirements of this chapter.” Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-4(2) (West 2004). Further, CSRB may only convert a formal proceeding into an informal one, or vice versa, provided the conversion is “in the public interest” and “does not unfairly prejudice the rights of any party.” Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-4(3) (West 2004).

⁷A grievant is entitled to a hearing on the merits of his claim only if he demonstrates CSRB has jurisdiction over his grievance. *See Lopez v. CSRB*,

choose between a jurisdictional hearing – a formal proceeding – and an administrative review of the file – an informal proceeding – it can, with that decision, also choose whether judicial review lies with this Court or the district court. And because CSRB chose to conduct a jurisdictional hearing, that decision necessarily dictated that any appeal would be before this Court.

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